## BEFORE THE Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission

Re: Petition of PPL Electric Utilities Corporation for Approval of an Energy Efficiency and Conservation Plan, Docket No. M-2009-2093216

## Reply Brief Eric Joseph Epstein, *Pro se*

September 9, 2009

James McNulty
Secretary
Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission
Commonwealth Keystone Building
400 North Street
PO Box 3265
Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265

Secretary McNulty:

Enclosed for filing with the Commission are an original, and seven (7) copies of Eric Joseph Epstein's Reply Brief in the above-referenced proceeding.

Sincerely, Pro se

Eric Joseph Epstein 4100 Hillsdale Road Harrisburg, PA 17112 Lechambon@comcast.net

Certificate of Service

cc:

## **Table of Contents**

I. Introduction1-2
II. Procedural History3
III. Description of EDC Plan4
IV. Summary of Argument4
V. Argument4-6
A. Act 129 Conservation and Demand Reduction Requirements4-6
1. Overall Conservation Requirements 2011 Requirements
2013 Requirements6
2. Overall Demand Reduction Requirements
Requirements for a Variety of Programs Equitably Distributed6-10
a. Time Of Use Rates7-8
b. 10% Government/Non-Profit Requirement7
c. Low Income Program Requirements7-10
c 1) Residential Energy Assessment And Weatherization Program7-8
c 2) Low-Income Winter Relief Assistance Program (WRAP)8-9
c 3) E-Power Wise Program10
Issues Relating to Individual Conservation and Demand Reduction Programs
Residential11-15
d 1) Compact Fluorescent Lighting Campaign11-12
d 2) New Homes Program12-13
d 3) Renewable Energy Program13

d 4) Direct Load Control Program14
d 5) Energy Efficiency Behavior & Education Program14-15
Commercial
E) Proposals for Improvement of EDC Plan
Residential
F) Cost Issues16-17
1. Plan Cost Issues16
f1) Cost Recovery Mechanism: Detail and Scope of Expenses16
f2) Cost Recovery: Two Percent Limitation16-17
2. Cost Effectiveness/Cost-Benefit Issues2
3. Cost Allocation IssuesNR
4. Cost Recovery IssuesNR
CSP Issues16
Implementation and Evaluation IssueNR
Implementation IssuesNR
QA IssuesNR
Monitoring and Reporting IssuesNR
Evaluation IssuesNR
Other Issues
VI. Conclusion
VII. Proposed Ordering Paragraphs18-19

# TO THE PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION:

Petition of PPL Electric Utilities : Corporation: For Approval of :

an Energy, Efficiency and : Docket No. M Conservation Plan : M-2009-2093216

### REPLY BRIEF of ERIC JOSEPH EPSTEIN, *Pro Se*

#### I. Introduction

On October 15, 2008, Governor Edward Rendell signed HB 2200 into law as Act 129 of 2008 ("Act 129" or the "Act"), with an effective date of November 14, 2008. Act 129 expands the oversight responsibilities of the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission ("Commission") and imposes new requirements on Electric Distribution Companies ("EDCs") in an effort to reduce energy consumption and demand, enhance the circumstances for the procurement of generation supply for default service, expand the installation of smart meter technology and expand the availability of alternative energy sources.

Act 129 is codified in the Pennsylvania Public Utility Code at Sections 2806.1 and 2806.2, 66 Pa. C.S. §§ 2806.1 and 2806.2. The Act requires an EDC with at least 100,000 customers to adopt a plan, approved by the Commission, to reduce electric consumption by at least one percent (1%) of its expected consumption for June 1, 2009 through May 31, 2010, adjusted for weather and extraordinary loads. The 1% reduction is to be accomplished by May 31, 2011. (66 Pa. C.S. § 2806.1 (c) (1))

Moreover, by May 31, 2013, the total annual weather-normalized consumption is to be reduced by a minimum of three percent (3%). (66 Pa. C.S. § 2806.1 (c) (2)) In addition, by May 31, 2013, peak demand is to be reduced by a minimum of four-and-a-half percent (4.5%) of the EDC's annual system peak demand during the period of June 1, 2007 through May 31, 2008. 66 Pa. C.S. § 2806.1 (d) (1). By November 30, 2013, the Commission is to assess the cost effectiveness of the program and set additional incremental reductions in electric consumption if the benefits of the program exceed its costs. (66 Pa. C.S. § 2806.1 (d) (2))

In an Act 129 Implementation Order entered January 16, 2009 at Docket No. M-2008-2069887 ("Implementation Order"), the Commission established that EDCs are required to demonstrate the cost effectiveness of their Energy Efficiency and Conservation Plans using the Total Resource Cost Test ("TRC Test"). (Implementation Order, pp. 14-15) Act 129 defines the TRC Test as "[a] standard test that is met if, over the effective life of each plan not to exceed 15 years, the net present value of the avoided monetary cost of supplying electricity is greater than the net present value of the monetary cost of energy efficiency conservation measures." (66 Pa. C.S. § 2806.1 (m)) The Commission has concluded that the TRC test set forth in the California Standard Practice Manual (1) provides a good starting point, but recognizes that the California TRC Test must be modified in order to meet the "unique requirements" of Act 129 and the Pennsylvania electric industry. (Implementation Order, pp. 14-16)

This manual can be found at: <a href="http://www.clarkstrategicpartners.net/files/calif\_standard\_practice\_manual.pdf">http://www.clarkstrategicpartners.net/files/calif\_standard\_practice\_manual.pdf</a>.

<sup>2</sup> PPL Electric is an EDC serving approximately 1.4 million customers in central eastern Pennsylvania.

## II. Procedural History

On July 1, 2009 PPL Electric Utilities filed its Act 129 Energy Efficiency and Conservation Plan ("EE&C Plan") with the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission ("PUC" or "Commission").

Eric Joseph Epstein's ("Mr. Epstein" or "Epstein") filed a Petition to Intervene in the Above-Referenced Proceeding on July 15, 2009. Epstein's Petition was filed Pursuant to Commission Regulations, 52 Pennsylvania Code § Sections 5.71-5.74.

On July 22, 2009, Eric Joseph Epstein received a Prehearing Order from the Honorable Susan D. Colwell Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") with the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission.

The Administrative Law Judge convened a Prehearing conference on Monday, July 27, 2009 at 1:00 pm in Hearing Room #3, Commonwealth Keystone Building, 400 North Street, Harrisburg, PA.

Mr. Epstein attended and participated in the Public Input Hearing convened on Thursday, July 30, 2009 at the Bethlehem Town Hall City Council Chambers 10 East Church Street, Bethlehem, PA.

On August 7, 2009 Eric Joseph Epstein submitted Direct Testimony in the above-referenced proceeding.

Mr. Epstein participated in the Evidentiary Hearing convened by Judge Colwell on August 17, 2009 at the PUC, and cross examined PPL witnesses.

At the Evidentiary Hearing, Mr. Epstein entered his Direct Testimony into the record without objection.

On August 28, 2009, Eric Joseph Epstein, Pro se, filed his Main Brief.

#### III. Description of PPL's Plan

On July 1, 2009, PPL Electric Utilities Corporation (2) ("PPL Electric" or the "Company") filed with the Commission its Energy Efficiency and Conservation Plan ("EE&C Plan"). The filing included: (1) PPL Electric's EE&C Plan; (2) four statements of direct testimony in support of the EE&C Plan; (3) a pro forma Section 1307 Cost Recovery Mechanism; and, (4) a Petition requesting approval of the EE&C Plan, approval of the Cost Recovery Mechanism and waiver of certain Commission regulations. The Commission has directed that comments on EDCs' EE&C plans may be filed within twenty (20) days of the publication of the plan in the Pennsylvania Bulletin. (Implementation Order, p. 12) PPL Electric's EE&C Plan was published on July 17, 2009. Mr. Epstein's comments on PPL Electric's EE&C Plan will follow.

## IV. Summary of Argument

PPL Electric's EE&C Plan is vague in certain areas, and diminishes the roles of nonprofit and community-based organizations. Of particular concern is the fact that PPL Electric's EE&C Plan is less than straightforward in its discussion of projected programming costs. In addition, the Company's proposal to have the ability to add or subtract programs without Commission approval is a significant concern.

## V. Argument

A review of the EE&C Plan indicates that instead of reducing consumption it may actually increase consumption and may encourage customers to switch from renewable energy sources and/or natural gas to electricity. (3)

<sup>3</sup> For example, the rebate for the heat pump water heater appears high enough to encourage people with natural gas water heaters to fuel switch to electric. (EE&C Plan, p. 44)

PPL Electric should be bound by hard cost caps on individual programs rather than a floating aggregate (or total EE&C Plan basis) as proposed by PPL Electric. (PPL Electric St. 4, p. 4) Similarly, rebates are not synchronized across utilities which will confuse customers and exclude large retailers who will not participate without the standardization of rebate amounts. (4)

Moreover, the Company needs to specifically identify the accounting that supports its administration and programming cost projections, subject to annual reconciliation as currently occurs under the CTC/ITC formula. Specifically, the estimated residential annual impact assumes a consumption-based charge and disguises program costs. Obtaining an accurate projection of plan costs is critical because the Act dictates that the total cost of any plan must not exceed two (2) percent of the EDC's total annual revenue as of December 31, 2006, excluding Low-Income Usage Reduction Programs established under 52 Pa. Code § 58 (relating to residential Low Income Reduction Programs) (67). (66 Pa. C.S. § 2806.1 (g))

In addition, there are no provisions for senior citizens or financially distressed customers even though Act 129 mandates that the EE&C Plan "include specific energy efficiency measures for households at or below 150% of the federal poverty income guidelines." (66 Pa. C.S. § 2806 (g))

Significantly, the EE&C Plan does not distinguish between education and PPL Electric's branding and marketing campaign. During its past three Commission cases, involving the RSP, CBP and POLR programs, PPL Electric has conducted limited polling and did not screen customers for baseline levels of knowledge on consumer issues. In this regard, PPL Electric has yet to hire a certified consumer educator. More specific concerns are addressed in the following sections and are identified by issue. (Implementation Order, p. 34)

As a strategy to mitigate program risk, PPL Electric proposes using in-store brochures and collateral. (EE&C Plan, p. 43) PPL Electric did not reach agreement with any other utility on rebate programs. Consequently, consumers in crossover media markets will likely be confused and national retailers will possibly avoid posting information in-store to avoid customer dissatisfaction.

#### A. Act 129 Conservation and Demand Reduction Requirements

No reply necessary.

## 1. Overall Conservation Requirements: 2011 Requirements & 2013 Requirements

No reply necessary

## Requirements for a Variety of Programs Equitably Distributed

#### a. Time Of Use Rates

PPL Electric Utilities filed its Act 129 Energy Efficiency and Conservation Plan on July 1, 2009. PPL discussed Time of Use ("TOU") rates at pp. 84-88 of the EE&C Plan fully *thirty days prior* to PPL's TOU filing.

PPL did not contest the timing or content of its TOU program in its Main Brief, pp. 35-36. Despite acknowledging that the Company must make a separate filing for approval of TOU rates pursuant to a Commission-approved POLR settlement at Docket No. P-2008-2060309 (5) (EE&C Plan, p. 84), PPL Electric outlined its TOU program in its EE&C proposal and indicates that the program "will be similar in format to pilot TOU programs the Company has been conducting since 2002." (Id)

In addition to the above discussion, Mr. Epstein's concerns with PPL Electric's TOU proposal include, but are not limited to the following: Direct Load Control issues have not yet been determined; discussions during the TOU collaborative indicate that there must be universal and consistent timing for the cycles; and, the EE&C Plan indicates that projected TOU costs are based largely upon information gathered through PPL Electric's ongoing TOU pilot programs (EE&C Plan, p. 87); and the TOU pilot programs have had limited customer participation, will not conclude until 2010 and have not been fully evaluated. (PPL Electric St. 3, pp. 6-8)

In addition, PPL Electric stated that it plans to spend \$4 million over 3.5 years on the TOU program, \$3.3 million of this amount will pay for marketing the program. EE&C Plan, p. 88 (Table 53).

Mr. Epstein questions these proposed expenditures when (as discussed above) the TOU pilot programs have not been fully evaluated. Many questions remain unanswered such as: (1) how many customers have participated in TOU pilot programs? (2) How many of these customers received a bill that was higher as a result of the program? (3) What are the average and median demand savings per customer?

#### b. 10% Government/Non-Profit Requirement

No reply necessary.

## c 1) Residential Energy Assessment And Weatherization Program

PPL ignored Mr. Epstein's discussion contained in his Main Brief, pp. 8-9, and the Company limited its comments to eligibility requirement (PPL Main Brief, pp. 27-28)

In its discussion of the target market, PPL Electric indicates that "[p]articipants must have electric heat, electric water heating, and/or central air conditioning." (Id) Consequently, if a residential customer uses a window air conditioner or does not have air conditioning at all, that customer is not eligible to participate in this program. Such a requirement unnecessarily excludes customers who might otherwise benefit from the program (and, by implication, increase energy reductions under the EE&C Plan). All residential customers should be eligible for surveys and/or audits under this program.

Customers must agree to a \$50.00 walkthrough survey or pay for a comprehensive energy audit (5) in order to be eligible for an installation rebate. (EE&C Plan, pp. 48-49) After agreeing to have the walkthrough or audit, other consumption-reducing information is provided to the customer.

Such requirements create the potential for a two-tiered system in which higher income customers obtain greater access to consumption-reducing information. Instead, all customers should be encouraged to participate in all programs offered under the EE&C Plan without regard to economic status.

Moreover, significant efforts should be made to eliminate financial barriers to participation in this program. Also, it is unclear what diagnostic tests will be performed during these audits and who the auditors will be. To prevent abuse, auditors should be independent of PPL Electric and prohibited from selling products.

#### c 2) Low-Income Winter Relief Assistance Program (WRAP)

Mr. Epstein remains concerned how costs related to PPL Electric's existing Universal Service Programs ("USP") will be attributed to this program. The Company has not indicated how USP and Act 129 costs will be segregated in either its Plan or Main Brief, pp. 39-40) The Company stated that it intends to manage this program with "existing staff ... supported by internal marketing and administrative staff." (EE&C Plan, p. 98) However, there is no indication as to how such costs will be segregated from USP administrative costs, and the Company flatly declared, "it will develop and use cost collecting numbers and codes to capture the costs associated with Act 129 programs and activities." (PPL Main Brief, pp. 39-40).

PPL failed to explain in it's Main Brief why it is **relying on 2000 census** data.

PPL Electric has estimated (without attribution) that a comprehensive energy audit will cost \$500.00. (EE&C Plan, p. 51) Under the EE&C Plan, customers agreeing to a comprehensive energy audit receive a subsidy incentive of \$250.00 if they are both central air conditioning and electric heat customers and a \$100.00 incentive is provided central air conditioning or electric heat only customers. (EE&C Plan, p. 53) It is unclear why a significantly lower incentive is provided for air conditioning only customers when PPL Electric is a summer peaking utility and greater savings could accrue from significant participation by air conditioning only customers. (EE&C Plan, p. 49)

At a minimum, PPL could have accessed and utilized the 2007 estimated population figures which were **available on July 1, 2008**. United States Census Bureau data was readily available on-line and indicate that as of July 1, 2007 - **two years prior to the release PPL's EE&C plan** - sixteen out of the 29 counties (6) in the Company's rate base contain **double-digit poverty levels**. This data was reported *prior* to the recession and the steep decline in housing starts. (7)

PPL's current demographic data are **ten years old** and **undercount senior citizens**, (8) and those **households living below federal poverty levels**. Additionally, PPL has failed to survey or plan for the impact of the removal of rate caps on customers. (Transcript, Page: 181, Lines: 16-25).

Mr. Epstein raised the issue with who will benefit from any energy reductions obtained under the program. The Company indicates that if a multiunit building has a single meter, the landlord, not the low-income customer, will benefit from any energy reductions. (EE&C Plan, p. 95; Table 60) There does not appear to be a logical reason as to why this program should subsidize multiunit buildings where low-income tenants do not pay the bills. If there is one master meter, these low-income tenants are not even customers of PPL Electric.

<sup>6</sup> Berks: 11.1%; Carbon: 10.6%; Clinton: 13.3%; Columbia 13.1%; Dauphin: 11%; Lackawanna: 12.6%; Luzerne: 11.7%; Lycoming 13.0%; Montour: 10.4%; Northumberland: 12.9%; Schuylkill: 11.9%; Snyder: 10.7%; Susquehanna: 11.3%; Union: 13.2%; Wayne: 11.2%; and, Wyoming: 10.9%.

<sup>7</sup> In June, 2009, the U.S. Department of Labor reported unemployment statistics for Pennsylvania that demonstrate the unemployment rate in PPL counties was 8.5% while the state level was 8.3%.

<sup>8</sup> As of 2007, 15% of PPL's 1.4 million residential customers were 65 years-of-age or older.

#### c 3. E-Power Wise Program

PPL's Main Brief, p. 40 ignored Mr. Epstein's concerns and questions relating to the e-power wise program

For example, the expansion of the existing e-power wise program (9), as with other low-income programs included in the EE&C Plan, presents segregation of expense issues involving USP efforts. In short, it is unclear how much customer education money will be used to fund this program. Moreover, PPL Electric anticipates that 7,200 low-income customers will participate in the program. EE&C Plan, p. 100. However, it is unclear how many of these low-income customers will also receive WRAP services or participate in the CFL program. These issues have to be resolved in order to ensure that expenses are not being double-counted.

Also, PPL Electric stated that an "Energy Home Savings Kit...may include: two CFLs...low-flow showerhead..." (EE&C Plan, p. 102) This statement demonstrates a lack of specificity that makes a comprehensive evaluation of the program very difficult. Specificity is necessary to determine whether the projected savings will actually materialize. Such specificity is also necessary in order to distinguish projected savings from the normal customer conservation that results from factors such as periodic rate increases. The Company projects \$332,142.00 in total customer incentives for the program. (EE&C Plan, p. 105; Table 68)

<sup>9</sup> If PPL Electric owns the e-power brand, the issues previously discussed concerning brand marketing are applicable here.

## d) Issues Relating to Individual Conservation and Demand Reduction Programs : Residential

## d 1) Compact Fluorescent Lighting Campaign

PPL's EE&C Plan as well the Company's Main Brief, pp. 28-30 fail to discuss the disposal costs for mercury contained in CFLs. (10) Disposal costs are being passed on to consumers and municipalities. Consequently, unless careful consideration is given to the issue of CFL disposal costs, the CFL effort is likely to repeat the tritium and exit sign issue that currently exists at Pennsylvania landfills.

CFL bulbs contain small amounts of mercury, a potent neurotoxin that must be properly disposed of in order to protect the environment. Mercury is especially harmful to children and fetuses. A few states, cities and counties have prohibited the disposal of CFLs in the trash, however, in most states, including Pennsylvania, the practice is legal. However, at minimum, PPL Electric should be required to account for the cost of a CFL disposal program in connection with its CFL initiative. This issue will not fade away. PPL Electric's EE&C Plan should identify and incorporate the cost of CFL disposal.

PPL Electric's EE&C Plan relies heavily upon its proposed CFL program to deliver the consumption savings it projects for program years 2010-2012. EE&C Plan, p. 28 (Table 6 – Program Summaries). However, such reliance upon CFL savings appears to be highly speculative because CFL penetration among residential customers may already be significant.

If PPL Electric's CFL program is not supportable, the Plan will not come close to meeting its consumption reduction targets. PPL's own data undermine the Company's Act 129 predictions.

<sup>10</sup> PPL witness Peter Cleff acknowledged that the CFL disposal program is limited to one page (p. 58) in the EE&C. The Company plans to assign "disposal options to the CFL's CSPs," but PPL declined to comment on liability exposure. "In our specifications and proposed contracts with CFL CSP's, it is their responsibility to recommend the best method of disposal." (Transcript, Page 178, Lines: 17-19).

PPL's plan fails to factor the large and pervasive footprint established by Pennsylvania's ARRA Weatherization State Plan, p.6:

Replacement of light bulbs and installation of a load control receiver, which allows a resident to demonstrate when individual appliances turn on and off in order to make efficient use of electricity and purchase power only when needed, will become standard protocol wherever possible.

PPL has indicated that it intends to put the PPL logo on CFL marketing materials. (EE&C Plan, p. 59) However, if the PPL logo is placed on CFL boxes, distribution rate branding issues must be addressed because the intent of the EE&C Plan is to **reduce not increase consumption**.

#### d 2) New Homes Program

PPL contrived to limit Mr. Epstein's concerns about "program details" (PPL Main Brief, p. 30), but there are details yet to be determined (p.31). Mr. Epstein urges the Commission not to approve this program until the details have been confirmed by the Company and reviewed. In this regard, the EE&C Plan states at p. 68 that to be eligible for the New Homes program the participants must meet several **mandatory** Energy Star requirements. However, those requirements are **not identified.** 

Similarly, the customer incremental cost for an Energy Star rated home is estimated to be approximately \$1,200. (EE&C Plan, p. 70) However, the source for this estimate and the associated assumptions are not provided. The EE&C Plan at p. 70 also states that the customer receives the rebate, but is it the customer or the builder that actually receives the rebate?

Moreover, at least one of the provisions in the program appears to encourage the selection of electric over natural gas as the primary energy source. Table 4 on p. 70 indicates that builders of electric cool and heat homes can receive a \$2,000.00 incentive. The availability of this rebate could persuade a builder to build an all-electric home instead of a natural gas home.

Finally, despite the fact that the New Homes program will not be launched until June 1, 2010 at the earliest (EE&C Plan, pp. 68 & 73), PPL Electric has included \$313,000.00 in expenses for the program prior to its launch, including \$84,000.00 in administrative costs. (EE&C Plan, p. 73; Table 37 - Year One).

#### d 3) Renewable Energy Program

Mr. Epstein believes that this program would be more effective with a broader scope. For example, solar thermal is not included but it has proven to be much more cost effective than photovoltaic. Also, the EE&C Plan states that the program "will be available to residential and government/nonprofit sector customers with onsite resources to supply renewable energy systems." (EE&C Plan, p. 74) However, the program will use federal tax credits, which nonprofit organizations cannot use. In addition, this program is primarily a geothermal program which again encourages electric heat by providing a \$217 per ton rebate; the solar rebate is \$2 per watt. (EE&C Plan, p. 76; Table 40)

In identifying anticipated costs of the solar photovoltaic, PPL Electric assumes the availability of a state incentive of up to \$2.25/watt. (EE&C Plan, p. 75 (f.n. 41)) However, the program is not projected to start until the second quarter of 2010 (EE&C Plan, p. 76), when the state rebate will likely be lower than projected. Also, the Company does not mention what happens to the solar alternative energy credits that will be generated under the program. Mr. Epstein believes that PPL Electric should consider expanding the program to include small wind and biomass. Such a program could be run by the Sustainable Energy Fund, and the rebate should apply to all renewables on a per watt basis without regard to renewable fuel source.

#### d 4) Direct Load Control Program

PPL's safeguards (PPL Main Brief, p. 32) do not account for discomfort especially among senior citizens. In fact, PPL uses 2000 census data and failed to account for the fact that in 2007 15% of PPL's 1.4 million residential customers were 65 years-of-age or older. (11)

Instead of reducing consumption, this program is designed to ensure that PPL Electric can obtain maximum utilization of its generating resources without causing a power failure. While that may be a worthy objective from a system reliability standpoint, there is no apparent energy consumption reducing benefit. Moreover, PPL Electric's control of customers' air conditioning settings could lead to uncomfortable temperature levels in customer homes for a meager \$32 incentive. (EE&C Plan, p. 81) Further, the Total Resource Cost of this program indicates that it is not cost effective even with \$0 identified as Direct Participant Costs. (EE&C Plan, p. 83; Table 48)

#### d 5) Energy Efficiency Behavior & Education Program

PPL offered no defense of the Company's blended and arbitrary definitions of "branding," "education" and "marketing" on its Main Brief, p. 38. PPL weakly offered up Mr. Epstein's failure to explain or define the term "certified consumer educator."

In Pennsylvania, certification standards exits for all public educators. PPL has admitted that is has no "certified educators" on staff. And similar to Department of Environmental Protection's (DEP, St. 1 p. 28) recommendation for contractor certification standards, Mr, Epstein requests that teacher so educators be certified by the Pennsylvania Department to Environmental Protection.

Mr. Cleff acknowledged, "Our intent would be to use the data as of the filing date of this plan, not to try to refine the estimated number of low income customers every single year and having a moving target where we have to completely adjust the plan percentages." (Transcript, Page: 182, Lines: 20-25, and p, 183, Lines: 1-13). However, PPL used **2000 Census Data** to frame its EE&C plan.

Mr. Cleff's definition of marketing are "those activities directly related to the promotion of a specific program...branding is intended to mean PPL's name that will be listed on media program brochures and in-store advertising. And then for education is the general promotion of energy efficiency actions and behaviors." (Transcript, Page 175, Lines: 19-25 and Page 176, Lines 1-5.) Mr. Cleff noted, "That is my definition of how we would be doing marketing and advertising and education for purposes of the Act 120 programs. They are not textbook classifications per se." (Transcript, Page 176, Lines: 9-12)

PPL's Main Brief, p. 38 provided factual data or explanation as to how the Company arrived at this arbitrary and self-serving definitions.

PPL simply made up definitions for ACT 129 with no mechanisms in place to gauge and assess impact. Educational outcomes are difficult to measure and such programs are often used to expand brand awareness. For example, PPL Electric currently markets through PPL Corporate Services, which also markets PPL Energy Plus. The EE&C Plan states that the Company will "coordinate closely with PPL Electric's existing and new marketing activities." (EE&C Plan, p. 90) PPL Corporate Services could be included in these marketing activities."

PPL Electric states that it "may sponsor presentations and demonstrations, increase direct outreach to customers, participate in local energy education events, and provide energy educational materials to local schools, community organizations, and senior citizen groups, among other activities." (EE&C Plan, p. 90)

PPL must be completed to separate and distinguish branding and marketing from "educational initiatives."

## e) Proposals for Improvement of EDC Plan: Residential

No reply necessary.

#### F. Cost issues

#### f1) Cost Recovery Mechanism: Detail and Scope of Expenses

PPL Electric has requested recovery of all upfront expenses, including the expenses attributable to the Cadmus Group. (12) Accordingly, the expenses associated with the Cadmus Group should be denied. Similarly, the Company has stated that its portfolio includes expenditures in 2010 and 2011 to develop the direct load control ("DLC") and curtailment infrastructure. (EE&C Plan, p. 13) Although costs are amortized over the life of the Plan (5 years), PPL Electric has indicated that it plans to agree to contracts that extend beyond 2013, the last year of the Plan.

#### f2) Cost Recovery: Two Percent Limitation

PPL Electric has also misinterpreted Act 129 in regard to the maximum amount that an EDC can spend in compliance with the Act. The Company states that it believes that the 2% annual cap on expenses should be applied on a total EE&C Plan basis. (EE&C Plan, p. 24) However, the Act imposes a 2% maximum based upon annual revenues received by the EDC in the year ended December 31, 2006, excluding the cost of Low Income Reduction Programs. (66 Pa. C.S. § 2806.1 (g)). There is no mention of the term average revenue. PPL Electric's claim that the Act 129 evaluator should not be included under the Company's 2% cost cap (EE&C Plan, p. 25), should also be rejected.

However, this proposal hides the true cost within the bill. Instead, the Company should impose a separate flat charge for two reasons: (1) rate payers would be informed as to how much the program costs them; and, (2) under the variable rate proposed by PPL Electric, those that benefit from the program and reduce consumption will also pay less into the program.

PPL Electric hired the Cadmus Group, an environmental and energy consulting firm, to assist in the preparation of the EE&C Plan. (EE&C Plan, p. 5) The Commission has determined that "CSPs covered by the procedures in this section are those that provide plan consultation, design, administration and management services to the EDC." (Implementation Order, p. 25)

Despite the Company's claim that all the programs included in its EE&C Plan benefit both shopping and non-shopping customers, this point is later contradicted when the Company indicates that two of the fourteen EE&C programs will not be available to non-default service customers. (EE&C Plan, p. 221)

The Company also states that it "does not propose to reconcile the revenues collected under the cost recovery mechanism to its actual spending levels in each year..., these spending levels can vary from year to year." (EE&C Plan, p. 26) In short, PPL Electric is proposing to reconcile against budget each year, and then reconcile to actual at the end of the plan. However, the reconciliation should be to actual expenses at the end of each year. Such a process provides the most exact identification of cost to the EDC.

Moreover, the latter process is consistent with the Commission's determination that the total cost of any plan in regard to the 2% limitation, "should be interpreted as an annual amount, rather than an amount for the entire five-year period." (Boldface type added) (Implementation Order, p. 34)

The Company's proposal is simply a poorly-designed attempt to circumvent the 2% cost-cap.

#### G. Other Issues.

Finally, in PPL Electric's EE&C Plan (pp. 14-16), the Company states generally that it met regularly with stakeholders in order to receive input for its EE&C Plan. However, Mr. Epstein has a different impression. In fact, Mr. Epstein informed PPL Electric in writing as recently as June 3, 2009, that he desired more regular stakeholder meetings concerning the EE&C Plan. In this regard, Mr. Epstein also requested that minutes be provided after all meetings. If the infrequent meetings had been better organized there may have been a framework for more meaningful input from stakeholders.

PPL's "stakeholder meetings" were by **invitation only**, and held on April 1 and May 27, 2009. At the Evidentiary Hearing, none of PPL's witnesses could **explain or identify** the criteria for determining who or what was a **stakeholder**. Mr. Kleha did state the meetings were open to "those who walked off the street," although it was unclear how many pedestrians availed themselves to this opportunity since the meeting was held at the Holiday Inn Harrisburg East on Lindel Road. The hotel is sandwiched between a busy highway a retail shopping center. Yet, PPL concluded no additional meetings were warranted: No minutes were transcribed, minutes were not reviewed or verified, transcripts do not exist, and teleconferencing was not offered. PPL can not defend or substantiate statements that purport to represent consensus building. (Transcript, Page: 241: Lines 10-25, and Page: 242, Lines 1-5.)

#### VI. Concussion

For the reasons stated above, Eric Joseph Epstein respectfully submits that the Commission should adopt the proposed changes to PPL Electric's EE&C Plan.

## VII. Proposed Ordering Paragraphs

- (1) PPL Electric's EE&C Plan must be amended to provide for households that are in financial distress. Act 129 mandates that the EE&C Plan "include specific energy efficiency measures for households at or below 150% of the federal poverty income guidelines." (66 Pa. C.S. Section 2806 (g))
- (2) PPL Electric's EE&C Plan must be amended such that its efforts in support of Act 129 are clearly differentiated from its corporate branding and overall marketing campaign.
- (3) PPL Electric's Time-Of-Use ("TOU") rate proposal is stricken from the EE&C Plan because any current discussion of a TOU proposal is premature since proposed TOU costs are high, the TOU pilot program has not yet concluded and, most importantly, have not been fully evaluated.

(4) PPL Electric's Compact Fluorescent Light ("CFL") proposal must be amended to include current data on CFL penetration in the Company's service territory. Since evidence of record indicates that CFL penetration may already be significant, the Company must show that the significant consumption reductions it attributes to future CFL use, will actually materialize.

(5) PPL Electric has misinterpreted Act 129 in regard to the maximum amount that an EDC can spend in compliance with the Act. The Company states that it believes that the 2% annual cap on expenses should be applied on a total EE&C Plan basis. (EE&C Plan, p. 24) However, the Act imposes a 2% maximum based upon annual revenues received by the EDC in the year ended December 31, 2006, excluding the cost of Low Income Reduction Programs. (66 Pa. C.S. Section 2806.1 (g)

There is no mention of the term average revenue.

(6) PPL Electric's EE&C Plan must be amended to explicitly indicate how existing Universal Service Program ("USP") costs will be attributed to the Low-Income Winter Relief Assistance Program ("WRAP"). The Company must identify how USP and Act 129 costs will be segregated and, also, how these programs will be impacted by federal weatherization money.

(7) PPL Electric must amend its EE&C Plan to indicate who will benefit from any energy savings under the WRAP program when a multi-unit building has a single meter. Under circumstances where the low-income tenants are not customers of the EDC there is no apparent reason to provide benefits to a non-low-income building owner who is the actual customer of the EDC.

Respectfully submitted,

Eric Joseph Epstein, *Pro Se* 4100 Hillsdale Road Harrisburg, PA 17112

Dated: September 9, 2009

#### **CERTIFICATION OF SERVICE**

I hereby certify that I have this day served a true and correct copy of the foregoing document upon the active participants named below by US mail or hand delivery or electronic transmission in accordance with the requirements of Section 1.54.

The Honorable Susan D. Colwell Administrative Law Judge Commonwealth Keystone Building 400 North Street Harrisburg, Pa 17120

David M. Kleppinger, Esquire Pamela C. Polacek, Esquire Shelby Linton-Keddie, Esquire McNees Wallace & Nurick LLC 100 Pine Street P.O. Box 1166 Harrisburg, PA 17108-1166

Michael W. Gang, Esquire Michael W. Hasell, Esquire John H. Isom, Esquire PPL c/o Post & Schell 17 North Second St., Floor 12 Harrisburg, Pa 17101-1601

Paul E. Russell, Esquire PPL Electric Utilities Corporation Two North Ninth Street Allentown, PA 18101-1179

James Mullins, Esquire Aron Beatty, Esquire Eric Gannon, Esquire Office of Consumer Advocate 555 Walnut Street Office of Consumer Advocate Harrisburg, PA 17101-1921 Craig R. Burgraff, Esquire Todd S. Stewart, Esquire Hawke, McKeon & Sniscak 100 N. Tenth Street P.O. Box 1778 Harrisburg, Pa 17101

Mark Morrow, Esquire UGI 460 N. Gulph Road King of Prussia, PA 19406

Lillian S. Harris, Esquire Thomas J. Sniscak, Esquire Hawke, McKeon & Sniscak 100 N. Tenth Street P.O. Box 1778 Harrisburg, Pa 17101

Allison Kaster, Esquire Charles D. Shields, Esquire PA Public Utility Commission Office of Trial Staff P.O. Box 3265 Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265

John K. Baille, Esquire Penn Future 425 6th Avenue, Suite 2770 Pittsburgh, Pa 15219 Pa DEP Asya Staevska, Esquire Scott Perry, Esquire Assistant Counsel RCSOB, 9th Floor, 400 Market Street Harrisburg, PA 17101-2301

Craig Doll Richards Energy Group, Inc. 25 West Second Street PO Box 403 Hummelstown, Pa 17036-0403

Office of Special Assistants Cheryl Walker Davis PA Public Utility Commission Office of Trial Staff P.O. Box 3265 Harrisburg, PA 17105-3265 Sharon E. Webb, Esquire Small Business Advocate Suite 1102, Commerce Building 300 North Second Street Harrisburg, PA 17101

Christopher A. Lewis, Esquire Field Diagnostic Services Blank and Rome One Logan Square Philadelphia, PA 19103